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SUMMARY: Senate candidate John Dicks has been
sued by former clients, including retirees, after they -
lost money in investment deals. [( -

/

\
F . "
By MARGARET TALEV i \/Q/&L/ /

pt The Tampa Tribune
PLANT CITY — Joarnn Chandler was approach-
ing retirement age in 1989 when she attended a

" financial semninar led by John Dicks in Tampa. She

had sold her house and come into a modest inheri-
tance and wanted {0 prepare for the future.

The seminar was sponsored by Delta First Fi-
nancial, an investment firm tied closely to multimil-
lionaire financial adviser Charles I
Givens' Altamonte Springs-based
educational organization. Givens'
company was known nationwide in
the 1980s and early 1990s for its
infomercials, seminars, books and,
later, scandals.

Dicks, who is running for state '
Senate in eastern Hillsborough
County,. was “Very convincing,”
Chandler, now 64, recalls.

4] gaid to mysel, 'T've never
trusted anybody; you've got to
trust these guys.) '' So she gave
Dicks §70,000 to invest in a se-
ries of limited partnerships.

The partnerships failed. Chan- -
dler sued Givens and Delta to get
the money back, but she could not
comment about any settlement.
She also filed a complaint against
Dicks, who she says convinced her
che could not lose.

4T blame him,” she says.

Givens

. "He'’s made my life hell.”

Chandler isn't alone in her sentiments. At least
four other investors filed complnints againet Dicks
between 1986, when he got his securities license,
and last year, when records show he did not renew
it. The former clients alleged he was ne gligent, mis-
represented investments, crnitted facts and, in some

cases, was fraudulent. ‘ .
They named Dicks in suits against Delta and, In

See INVESTORS, Page 2 >
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some cases, Dicks' brother, Jack,
and Givens. Accarding to the Flori-
da Division of Securities database, in
1993, a client named Carol Palley

_sought $133,000 for Jost invest-
ments. In 1994, client Joe Kennedy
said he lost. $48,000. .The same
year, Ed and Shirley Karelsen asked
{or $26,500. Also in 1994, Giri and
Thana Giridhiar said they had lost
$55,000. Most of the cases went to
arbitration,

~" Dicks says the disgruntled inves- -

* tors were it the minority. “I think
it's unfortunate they lost some mon-
ey,” Dicks says, “Of those people
who_chose to invest, there were

" many who made investments from

«+he consultation that did' fine.

“Of those who lost money, thera
were never any guarantees made.
«~ That's just pne of the inherent fac-
, »Jors of any investment. People can
wlose money, and I did, just like they
did. And I didn't have anybody to
sie,” .
‘::'. Dicks, 43, a Plant City Democrat
.+ worth $2.3 million, is running for
the state Senate District 23 seat,
which covers east Hilishorough and
+.west Polk counties and is held by
+ retiring state Sen. Malcolm Beatd,
R-Seffner. Dicks faces Republican
Tom Lee, a developer from Bran

""" ~Jon-intheNov. Selection. "~

According to the securities divi-

« -ion, only--the - Giridhars’ case is

pending. The settlements have not
been disclosed.

# DICKS WAS 35, a young
lawyer, real estate instructor and
freelance speaker in 1988 when his
. older brother,-Jack; asked him.to do
some speaking and inivestment coun-
seling for Delta First Financial.
The Longwood brokerage firm
had been started five years before
by Jack Dicks, Givens and Charles
“Buddy'" Smith. According to re-
cords and published accounts, the
group set up limited partnerships
and culled investors through mem-
bers of Givens' educational orgarii-
zation, many of whom would attend
seminars to listen to traveling

barely take in rew members as fast
as they were lining up. But eventu-
ally, the Charles ). Givens Organiza-
tion was plagued by thousands of cli-
ent complaints and nationwide law-
suits, investigations and
settlements. One lawsuit came from
the Florida Attorney General's Of-
fice. The legal troubles finally
pushed the organization to file for
bankruptcy and reorganize earlier
this year.

The Attorney General's Office
charged that Givens' group made it
difficult or impossible for clients to
get full refunds for educational ma-
terials they tried to return, some of
which cost several hundred dollars,

THE OFFICE ALS0 charged -
that Givens' organization misrepre- -
sented how some financial strategies
worked. The office reached close to
a $400,000 settlement with Givens
last year, which covered about 250
Florida citizen complaints.

Earlier this year, a California ju- .
ry awarded a $14.1 million judg-
ment in a class-action snit against
Givens that included 29,000 former
California members between 1986
and 1993. There also have been
complaints and some settlements in
Wisconsin, Maryland and North Da-
kota,

- BUT ‘THERE -HAVE been a
few tragic cases as well, The most
infamous was the 1993 settlement
in the case of Sally and Ron Beadle
of Cedar Rapids, lowa. Sally Beadle
charged that a Givens speaker had
advised her husband to drop unin-
sured -motorist coverage. Ron Bea-
dle was killed spon after in a car
crash with an uninsured driver, leav-
ing his wife without money.

“In none of these things ... I
was never involved,” Dicks says.
“Never was ] called, Never was I
deposed. I was surprised. 1 thought
I'd make a pretty good witness [on
behalf of Givens).

“I would nivei be involved in
anything that was unethical, illegal
or immoral, The product [ sold was
yery-good. ’

"It would be different for me if I
had done something wrong. But 1
had not done anything remotely
questionahle,” :

Dicks talks about only a loese
connection to Givens. But in addi-
tion to Dicks' relationship with Giv-
ens through Delta as well as the ed-
ucational group, Dicks was involved
in publishing deals with the goru,

Givens was the author of the
1988 bestseller “Wealth Withott
Risk’* and other financial books
written for the masses. Dicks had
penned a few fnancial advice books

~Dicks says while thie organization
may have ended in a cloud of scan-
dal, he should -not be considered a
part of those problems nor should
they compromise his candidacy. -

He was contracted by Givens on-
ly as a speaker and was never on
the employee payroll, he says. He:
was responsible only for presenting
Givens' strategies at the seminars.

“It's an incredible stretch to try
to attach me to a guy who may have
had bad business practices,” Dicks
says. “I wasn't a partner, wasn't an
employee. 1 wasn't anything, [
wasn't inyolved in the day-to-day
strategies of the business.”

Dicks paints out most of the
complaints against Givens revolved
around refund problems, not bad ad-
vice,

himself. Givens sald Dicks' books
and Dicks sold Givens' books.

And in 1891, the two co-author-
ed a book and audio cassette pro-
gram, “Business Power Strategies.”

Dicks says he stopped working
for Givens after 1983 when he re-
turned to Plant City to get involved
with his community, spend time
with his wife and sons and market
his own financial strategies, But he
did not sever all Givens ties.

In March, Givens' wife contrib-
uted $500 to Dicks campaign, state
election records show. Dicks says
Givens is an enthusiastic contribitor
to the Republican Pirty for national
races.

And Dicks' marketing company,
Synergy Communications, formed in
1994, did most of its business in its

{irst yedr with two fingncisl advie
companies, Siccess Institutes ar
the National Strategic Alliance Nr
work out of Longwood. The prv -
dent of both was Joseph Sgarlata.
former Givens speaker and later
executive for Givens. Success Inw
tutes and NSAN are no longer o
tive,

“I'VE KNOWN JOHN (»
gosh, 10 years,”" Sgarlata, who nov
runs an Internet marketing grom
said in a telephone interview In
week. “I think John's a real profe
sional with lots of integrity. John ha
done everything ethically,

“Any time you're dealing in th
investment world, you're going !
have some enemies — and som
peoPle who thirk you walk on w:
ter.”

Ed Karelsen of Seattle, whoe
$26,500 suit has been settled, fall
into the first category, Like Chu
dler, Karelsen and his wife invests
in an ol pumping limited partne:
ship that went down the tubes whe

.the ojl and gas company filed (r
bankruptcy ‘moriths later.

Karelsen is angry at Dicks an
himself. “It was my own stupidit
for letting some guy sell me a bai¢’
like that," Karelsen says. “It wa
dumb. I should have put the mone
in a savings account. You live am
learn.”

Dicks says he lost betweo
$2,000 and $4,000 in the same denl
and that the 1990 bankruptcy wa
something he never could have pr
dicted, . )

“It's hard to fathom any ange
with me,” he says. “I was truly do
ing what 1 thought was best fiv
them in their situation.”

But Joann Chandler imaintain'
Dicks never told her the limite#
partnerships were risky. “He ha’
told me that with the money 1 had °
invested in these, I'd have an in
tome of about $43,000 a year," she

says.

“! could have been independenr
for the rest of my life," she says
“Now I may have to go live with nr
children.”

speakers whose ranks eventually in-
clud,ed—.Dick;.i O DR P

-, John Dicks. was qgualified to do
miore than just talk. He was-a regis-
tered securities dealer, licensed to
do bitsiness through Delta First.
Former investors, including Chan-
dler, say after Dicks gave a spee¢h
for Delta, he would offer consuita-
tions. If they liked what they heard,

. they would give Dicks.money. to.in-.{. :

vest in what he had recommended.

Givens eventually pulled out of
Delta First Financial after criticiam
that Delta and some of Givens’ oth-
er involvements were too closely
tied. But Délta continued to take in-
vestors from the Givens organiza-
tion,

Dicks says he stopped doing
work for Delta in 1990 and went to
work giving speeches for Givens'
educational group. That didn’t in-
volve making investments for pep-
ple, he says,

In the late 1980s and early
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Rays $450 million ballpark faces afternoon vote

June Sth, 2008 by Wayne Garcia

There's still time to attend the St. Petersburg City Council session on the Rays. Council members
anhounced this morning that It would hear the matter starting at 1:15 p.m.

Oh, and anyone wondéring just how far in the tank for the Rays the Times would be, look no further
than today's editorial page for a-slap-down of “upstart’ Counciiman Karl Nurse, who wants to puta
competing referendum on the ballot with the Rays boondogagle. (Full disclosure: Before joining CL, |
was a consultant to Nurse's unsuccessful bjd for mayor against Rick Baker.)

I'm still waiting for the edit board's take on the Times extensive marketing/sponsorship
relationships with the Rays and how that impacts the newspaper's objJectivity and/or credibility.

Bookmari It

E

Posted in Issues | No Comments »

Congressional 9: the race to face Bilirakis
June Sth, 2008 by Wayne Garcla

| spent some PoHo ink in this week's CL issue writing about the Congressional District 3 race, in
which three Democrats are running for the right 0 face Repubhcan first-termer Gus Bxllrakls in

Party's recent victories in Mississippi, lllinois and
Louisiana in turning formerly Red stronghold
seats into Blue. Some Tampa Bay Democrats
think Congressional 9 can be in play because of
Bilirakis' low “power" rankings, as a freshman. |
wrote:

Florida has a remarkably un-powerful
congressional delegation. Because It Is so
packed with Republicans, and the
Democrats are now in control of Congress,
Florida's influence in Washington lies —
according to Congress.org's power rankings — somewhere below that of Alabama and
West Virginia. For now, however, the Democratic Congressional Campalgn Committee
has targeted just two Red-to-Blue districts In Florida for financial suppoit: Christine
Jennings' rematch with Vern Buchanan in Sarasota and an effort to unseat Republican
Tom Feeney in Orlando.

For now, that list doesn't include District 9, where three Democrats are vying for the
nomination. It is a wildly gerrymandered district that stretches from Plant City across
northern Hillsborough, through Palm Harbor, Clearwater, Safety Harbor and East Lake in
Pinellas (whlle excluding Dunedin), north through Tarpon Springs and into part of Pasco
County along the Guif coast, In addition to Dicks and Mitchell, Anita de Palma, a former
Florida state director for the League of United Latin American Citizens from Clearwater,
is also running in the Democratic primary. (Another Democratic candidate, Michael van
Hoek, dropped out and endorsed Dicks.)

You can read the whole story here, -

Bonus Cuts: As | have limited space in CL, | will start start putting all the news that's fit to print but
doesn't fit the print here instead.

| didn't get to get into one issue that some politicos paint to as a vulnerability for Dicks: a 1996

article In the Tampa Tribune that detailed how a few people who took an investment seminar from
him In the 1990s claimed they had been ripped off and lost money:

PLANT CITY - Joann Chandler was approaching retirement age In 1989 when she
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Dicks, who is running for state Senate in eastern Hillsborough County, was "very
convincing," Chandler, now 64, recalls. .

“| said to myself, “I've never trusted anybody; you've got to trust these guys.'" So she
gave Dicks § 70,000 to invest in a series of limited partherships.

The partnerships failed. Chandler sued Givens and Delta to get the money back, but she
could not comment about any settlement, She also filed a complaint against Dicks, who
she says convinced her she could not lose.

“| blame him," she says. *He's made my life hell."

Chandler and four others filed complaints about Dicks and some eventually filed lawsults. The cases
were settled In arbitration, according to the account, which Is no longer avallable online except

through paid archiving services.

Some Dicks supporters say they've been malled anohymous packages containing the stories and
allegations.

" have seen parts of the court file," Mitchell told me in an interview, "Some of the bloggers have

“ralsed that issue. To the effect, he is going to have a very tough time because the Republicans have

that Issue and [they can ralse questlons about whether voters] are going to put someone in
Congress who has swindled seniors. That is something that Democratic voters need to take into

account.”

Dicks has steadfastly denied “swindling” anyone, saying that only six investors out of hundreds
became disgruntled during his time giving investment advice. He told the Trlb in 1996 that “of those
who lost money, there were never any guarantees made. That's just one of the inherent factors of
any investment. People can lose money, and | did, just like they did. And 1 didn’t have anybody to
sue."

Dicks told me when | asked him about the matter that ali the cases were settled amicably. “While a
lot of people were successful, there were six who lost money," he told me last week. I learned from
that. it has actually helped me be a better public servant.”

In an interesting possible preview of things to come, Dicks was attacked by the Natlonal Republican
Senatorial Campalgnover the seminar controversy during his unsuccessful 1996 Florida Senate run.
(Full disclosure: | represented his opponent, Tom Lee, during Lee's Republican primary in that
election. | was unaware of the national political attacks against him in the general election.) Dicks, a
lawver, sued for libel and settled the case. "They definitely paid out some money,” he said last week.
“Mine all went to charjty.”

Another aspect of thé race that didn't fit In print was a quick overview of where Dicks stands on
some of the issues. Dicks: :

« Wouldn't support opening new oll drilllng leases off Florida's Guif coast — at least yet. He calls them “our ultimate
strateglc reserve"” but touts new technologies to extract off in other parts of the nation first, He feels likewlss about
drilling in the Alaska National Wildlife Refuge but would support that before allowing more Florida Gulf coast drilling. "}
want to protect the enviranment," he sald of the ANWR, “but that Is a remote and desolate place,” (His opponent Mitchell,
a former Federal Trade Commisslon attorney who worked an fitigation against g Ol, questlons Dicks position and said
he opposes more drlliing in the Gulf and ANWR as producing too little oll to be worth the environmental risk.)

Parses his answers to fall on both sides of divisive soclal issues, On gay marriage and pending constitutional
amendments: | concur with Jeb Bush that It's pot necessary [to amend the constltution}, and I'm against gay marriage.”
On abortion: “I'm very definitely against abortion, but 'm respectful of Roe v. Wade. It's settled law."

Bookmarie It
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The Short List — Thurs,, June 5
June 5th, 2008 by Joe Bard}
In case you always wondered what a boulder made of legos would look like rolling down a hill ...
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(1) Could you please tell me what your current (1) A Well, there was no election. I filed — you file
@ employment is. . @ for qualification to run, and then the gualification period
@ A I do research on financial markets and some () ends, and there was no opposition. '
(4) public speaking. @ Q How long between the time you filed and the time

(5) Q Do you work for a company in connection with
(6) either your public speaking or your research on fmancial
(7) markets?
(8) A It’s all self-employed. 4
) Q Do you have your own company Of 2 name of an
(10) entity that you work with?
(t1y I know at one point in the last deposition you

(12) mentioned Synergy Cormmunications. Are you sill working for

(13) Synergy Communications?

(4) A No. We dissolved that company. That was

(15) inentioned in the deposition.

(16) Q I also understand that you have, for the Iast

{7 couple of years, been a Commissioner, is it?

(18) A Uh-huh. (Indicating affirmatively).

@9 Qs it for Plant City?

00y A Correct. City Commissioner.

@1) Q City Commissioner for Plant City. And when were
©2) you first — how did you come 10 be a Commissioner, a City
23) Commissioper, for Plant City?

(4) A Through an election in June of 1998.

@5) Q1 also understand that at some point within the

(5) that you were swom in?
(6) A Oh, well, the gualification period ended, I
(7 believe, in April, and I was sworn in in June.
(8 Q So during that several month period there was not
(9) any reference, that you know of, at least, to the
(10) advertisements at issue in this case?
(11) A None that I konow of.
{(12) Q And that would have been April through June of
(13) 1998? ‘
(14) A Approximately, yes.
(15) Q So about a year and a half after the 1996
(16) election?
(17) A I believe that would be correct.
(18) Q Now, at the time you were considered by your
(19) fellow commissioners for selection as Mayor of Plant City,
(0) was there, to your knowledge, any reference to the National
21) Republican Senatorial Committee’s advertisement during that
(22) process?
(23) A Not that T know of.
@4) Q Approximately when did that consideration occur?
(25) A Jupe of *99.
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(1) last two years, through your service as a City Commissioner
@) of Plant City, you were selected 1o be Mayor of Plant City;
(3) is that right? .
4) A That’s right.
(5) Q And how did that selection occur?
6 A It is done amongst the commissioners. ‘We hold an
(7) election, there’s five commissioners, and each year the
(8) commissioners choose, amongst ourselves, someone to
serve . ' :
(9) as Mayor.
(10 Q Appmximzitely what is the population of Plant
(1) City? .
(12) A 30,000.
(13) Q When you were running for election as City
(14) Commissioner, my understanding is that you were unopposed;
(15) is that right? .
(16) A That’s correct.
@7 Qs it also correct that during the time you were
(18) running for City Commissioner, for election as City
(19) Commissioner, that there were no references, so far as you

" [@0) know, to the advertiserment by the National Republican

1) Senatorial Committee that is at issue in this case?
22) A I know of none. o
(23) Q Approximately what was the duration, the time
(4) period, from the time you announced your candidacy for City
5 Commissioner to the time the election was held?
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(1) Q And would it be fair to say that during the
(2) entire time, from June 1998 through the present, in your
(3) current service, public service, the advertisements by the
(@) National Republican Senatorial Committes have not been vsed
(5) against you by your opponents?
(6) A I haven’t had any opponents.
) Q And it would be fair to say that, to the best of
(® your knowledge, there has been no reference to the ‘Natiopal
(® Republican Senatorial Committee’s advertisements n
(10) connection with your current endeavor inio politics?
(11) A No, I’d have to disagree with that. '
(12) Q Okay. What references have there been 10 the
(13) NRSC's advertisements during the time since you've filed to
(14) become a City Commissioner of Plant City? -
(15) A People continue to make reference to the ads that
(16) were run, '
(17) Q Which people?
(18) A No one in particular,
(19) Q Can you name me one individual? .
(20) A Not at this _parﬁcu]ar moment,
21) Q Were these references oral or in writing?
22) A They're all spoken.
(23) Q Is there anything you can think of;-as you sit
(24) here right now, that we could go to for confirmation of
@5) these statements? '

. Ans
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(1) serve as Mayor? (1) Q In the first line of Jetter you say "Thank you —
(?) A That's purely speculation, but I would suspect @ Thank you for the opporiunity 1 explain the sitations
(3) so. (3) involving cumplamm/arbnranon on my U4 forms."
() Q Had you announced it to anyone, either privately @ Do you see that?
(5) or publicly, that you intended 1o seek the position as ‘ {5) A Sure.
(6 Mayor? (6) Q Does that refresh your recollection that Ms.

(7 Boyd, or someone else, from the Division of Securities and
®) Investor Protection had contacted you with questions about
(© the number of complaints and arbitrations listed on your

7 A Not the — not the commissioners themselves,

(8) you’re talking friends.
®) Q So there were people who knew in advance of that

(10) meeting that you were desiring t be Mayot? (10) U4 forms?
(1) A Ves. (11) A No, it doesn’t help me recall that.
(12) MR. BURCHFIELD: Letme ask the reporter to mark (12) Q Do you recall whether the Division of Securities

{13) as Dicks’ Exhibit-10, a letier dated July 17, 1997, from (13) and Investor Protection had contacted you conceming your
(14) Mr. Dicks to Ms. Brenda Boyd. A copy for counsel. (14) prior relationship with Charles Givens?

(15 (Defendant’s Exhibit 10 was marked for (15) A No.~

(16) identification.) ' (16) Q Do yon recall that that was not the snbject of
a7 BY MR. BURCHFIELD: a7 the call? ‘

(18) Q Mr, Dicks, I'm handing you Dicks’ Exhibit 10. (18) A I don’t think it was. I don’t think — T don’t
(19) A Thank you. (19) recall it either way.

@0) Q Take whatever time you'd like to review that ) ©0) Q In this letter, Mr. Dicks, there are listed seven
21 leter. My guestion for you is whether you recognize it 2s @21) numbered items. Do you see those?

@2) a letter that you sent to Ms. Brenda Boyd of the Division ’ (22) A Yes.

@3) of Securities and Investor Protection of the Department of 23) Q And am I comrect that those are Seven CISIDMET

(24) Banking and Finance of the State of Florida, on or about @4 complaints that were filed against you during the period of
(5) fime you worked as an investment adviser?

(25 Tuly 17, 1997.
Page 202 Page 254
(1) A Yes. " {1y A They are seven different matters. Yes, I
) Q What was the occasion for wrmng this letter, @) think — I was looking through here, X think six were
(3) Mr. Dicks? (3) requests or statements of claim on arbitration and one was

@ A X don’t really recall. @ a lawsnit.
) Q Have you written other similar Jetters to the (5).Q All right. But all of them were customer

(6) Florida Drv:smn of Secunncs and Investor Protection — ‘ (6) complaints?
7 A No. ) A Well, T don’t know they were complaints in the

®) Q — that you recall? (8 technical sense, but they were — they were from people on
() A No, not that I recall. , (®) arbitrations and Jawsuits, yes.

(10) Q Am I correct that the Florida Division of (10) Q They were from investors that at Jeast believed

(11) Securifies and Investor Protection is charged with the (11) that you were responsible for putting them in unsuccessﬁll

(12) enforcement of various nvestor protection Jaws in ﬁ'lB (12) investment vehicles; is ‘that right?
(13) State of Florida? (13) ‘A They were from imvestors who thoughit that I was

(14) A.T would presume that they’re in charge of (14) part of or involved in mwstmenis in which they Wwere
(15) licensure. (15) placed in, yes.

(16)° Q Well, isn’t one aspect of your responsibilities (16) Q Now, I understand that one of these complaints

(17) 1o enforce the securities laws throngh, among other means, (17) was dismissed because yon were mistaken for your brother,
(18) review of Licensure? (18) Jack;-is that right?

(19) A T would suspect. (15) A I believe two of them were, I thmk

0) Q Was the occasion of this latr:r, Mr. Dicks, that 20) 'Q Which two, do you recall?

@1) the Florida Division of Securities and Investor Protection (1) A I I can look through bere.

- (22) had raised some issues with you? (22) Q Absolutely, Take whatever time you want.
@3) AT don’t recall that. ' (23) A Sure. I believe that in this exhibit it would be

(24) Q Do you recall something drﬁizrent" (24) number 6 and number 7, Engene and Jean Tnﬁhu, and

25) A No. Frank
(25). and Florence Brown.
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(1) represent some or all of the defendants or the respondents
@) in these matters?

- (3) A I don’t kmow.

{4) Q Do you recall if your brother, Jack, might have a

(5) full set of the setiement agreements relating to these

(6) matters?

) A Possibly. .

(8) Q Mr. Dicks, I'm poing o ask you 1o look at.a U4

(©) form which bears the date March 1, 1995, which was marked
(10) as Dicks’ Exhibit 1 at the prior sitting of the deposition.
(L1) Now, Mr. Dicks, I believe the last ime you were
(12) asked questions about whether this was — whether there was
(13) any U4 form that you filed between March 1, 1995 and the
(14) next U-4 form that we have, which is dated January 1, 1697,
(15) January 7 — 16, 1997. I'm sorry. And Ibelieve you
(16) testified that there was not. Ts that still your
(17) recollection?
(18) A To my knowledge.
(19) Q 1 don’t know that the Jannary 17 U4 — January
@D) 16, 1997 U+ has been previously marked. And in the event
(1) it has not, let's mark it again. This will be Dicks’
(22) Exhibit 13 — 12. T'm sorry. Dicks’ Exhibit 12 will be
(23) the Jamuary 14, 1957 U4. 1t actually bears the date of

@4) January 14.
(25) MR. WAGNER: Could you check to see if that's the

Pape 301

(1) 12:21 p.m.

) BY MR. BURCHFIELD: :

(3) Q M. Dicks, am I correct that a form U4 is part

@) of an application to become an mvestment adviser?

(5) A I think that'’s my understanding.
" (6) Q And is it the case that there are periodic

(7) amendments necessary to form U-4s whenever siations

(® change?

(© A Iwould presume.
(10) Q Have you endeavored to make such amentments as
(11) simafions have changed in your career as an mvestment
(12) adviser? .
(13) A Yes. o
(14) Q And do you understand that form U-4s are publicly
(15) available so the investing public can find out information
(16) about a particular investment adviser?
(7 A Yes. :
(18) Q To your knowledge, Mr. Dicks, is there any other
(19) publicly available source that would indicate the existence
@0) of claims or complaints against an nvestment adviser
(21) besides a U4?
22) A I believe they’re posted on the Internet.
@3) Q Well, is that posting on the Tntemnet derived
(24) from the U4 -
25) A I don’t know.
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‘(1) same one I handed you fhis momming. We didn’t ~ we
(2) weren’t sure what you had and what you didn’t have.
(3 MR. BURCHFIELD: No, the one you handed me this
-(4) moming was October 27, 1957.
(5) MR. WAGNER: Okay.
(6) MR. BURCHFIELD: And that was marked as an
(7) exhibit last time, I believe.
(8 MR. WAGNER: That's what I thought, too, and I
(9) couldn't figure it out. ‘ ’
(10) (Defendant’s Exhibit 12 was marked for
(11) identification.) ) o
(12) BY MR. BURCHFIELD:
(13) Q Mr. Dicks, 'm handing you Dicks’ Extibit 12, and
(14) I will just ask you if you could confirm that that is, in
(15) fact, a U-4 that you filed on or about Jamary 14, 19977
(16) MR, WAGNER: It's getiing cooler in here.
(17) THE WITNESS: It certainly appears so. I'm
(18) sorry, I was responding fo, I think the air condifioner
(19) came op, so that brought a slight smile to my face.
©0) MR. WAGNER: Can we g0 off the record fora
(21} moment, please. .
(@2) THE VIDEOGRAPHER: One moment, please. We're off
@3) the record at 12:20. ’
@4 (Discussion off fhe record.) -
(25) THE VIDEOGRAPHER: Back on the record at
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(1) Q — 1o your understanding?
@) A I don’t know. .
3) Q Do you consider — do you consider a U4tobea
@) reliable source of information about a particular
(5) investment adviser?
(6) A I'would presume. ‘
7) Q Dicks’ Exhibit 1, which we Jooked at a minute
(8) ago, it's the March 1995 U4, was filed or is dated
©) approximately 22 months before Dicks’ Exhibit 12, which is

| (10) dated Janvary 14, 1997 —

(11) A Okay.

(12) Q - is that about right?

(13) Now, I just want to make sure the record &5 -

(14) clear, and I apologize: if this is a bit redundant, but this

(15) is important. Ijust want to make sure the record is clear
(16) that, to your knowledge, you did not file 2 U4 or an

(7 amendment 1o a U4 between March 1995, when Dicks’ Fxhibit
(18) 1 was filed, and January 14, 1957, when Dicks' Exhibit 12
(15) was filed? ‘ '

20y A Not that I know of.

1) Q So that if someone were to look at your

@2) background as a securities investment adviser as of October
@3) 1996, what they would se2 is Dicks' Exhibit 1, the U4
-(24) dated March 1995, right? '

@5) A Uh-huh. (Indicating affirmatively).
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(1) identification.)
) BY MR. BURCHFIELD:
(3) Q Mr. Dicks, I'm handing you Dicks' Exhibits 19 and
() 20, the exhibits I just described. Do you recall sometime
(5) during late October 1996, within a couple of weeks, three
(6) weeks of the election, that the Tampa Tribune published
(7) this article?
(8) A Yes.
(9) Q And the picture here is 2 Jitfle biurred, but do
(10) “you recall that it had a picture of you right there?
(11) A It Jooks like that, yes.
(12) Q And I take it this article was not panmularly
(13) helpfitl to your election campaign?
(14) A I don’t know whether it was or wasn’t — or
(15) wasn’t.
(16) Q Well, let me ask you relatively. Do you consxder
(17) this article, by the Tampa Tribune, to be more or less, or
(18) about the same in terms of its damage 1o your election
(19) campaign, as the ad that the National Republican Senatorial
(20) Committee ran?
@1) A Well, i’s certainly less damaging than the ad.
22 Q And on what do you base that?
(23) A Becanse the ad was not correct.
@4) Q Well, M. Dicks, I think T understand what you're -
(25) saying, but 'm not sure, I want the record io be clear, of
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() investment deals.”
@ Do you see that?
3) A Ub-hub. (Indicating affirmatively).
@ Q Isthat a "yes"?
(%) A Yes.
(6) Q Are there a fair number of senior citizens who
(7 live in Plant City and the Senate district in which you
(8) were running?
©®) A I don’t kmow what you mean by a fair number, but
(10) there’s certainly senjor cifizens,
(11) Q More than 25 percent of the electorate, yon
(2 think? '
(13) A I don’t know that that’s trne.
(14) Q You think it's less than 25 percent or you just
(15 don’t know?
16) A I don’t know.'
() Q But it's generally the case down here in Florida,
(18 isn't it, Mr. Dicks, that the senior citizens’ vote is
(19) considered a very important vote?
(20) A Yes.
(21 Q And an article that reported that yon had been
@2) sved by former clients, inclnding refirees, afier they Jost
(23) money in nvestment deals, that’s not 2 helpful report, is
@4 17
@5 A It's not helpful.
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(1) the premise you're using.

. @ Are you saying that it is always the case that

(3) imaccurate facts ate — I'm sorry. Are you saymg that it
@ is always the case that an inaccurate report is more

(5) damaging to 2 reputation than an accurate report?

(6) A An inaccurate report s always more damaging than
(7) an accurate report?

© (® QRight

©) A Well, it depends on the slant and the focus of
(10) the inaccurate report. .
(11) Q I would assume that's true. Someone cou]d say R
(12) you were 2 Metal of Honor winner and that would be a pretty
(13) helpful fact, wouldn't it?
(14) A Absolutely. It's purely hypothetical, but it’s
(15) true.
(16) Q And it's also true that if someone were to
an correctly report that 2 person was a mass murderer, that
(18) could be pretty damaging, right?-
(19) A That’s correct. -
(20) Q Now, do you see — let’s look at the Westlaw

(21) version, whmh is the compuier printout, rt s much easier
(22) to read.

(23) Do you see there in the first - in 1hc SIMInary

(24) it says, "Senate candidate John Dicks has been sued by
(25) former clients and retirees, after they Jost money in
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(1) Q In fact, they quote, if you Jook down, they
@ quote, "Ms. Chandler," they give her age, “as now 64
(@) said" — they quotzd her as saying, "I said to myself T've
(4 never trusted anybody. You've gotto trust these guys.’
() So she gave Dicks $70,000 o invest in a series of limited
(6) partnerships. The partnerships failed. Chandler sued
(0 Givens and Delta to get the money back, but she could not
(8) cornment about any settlement.

(9 "She also filed a complaint against Dicks who

(10) says-she —who she says convinced her she could ot lose.

(1) 'Iblame him,” she says. 'He's made my Iife hell.”

(12) Do you see that? :

(13) A Yes.

(14) Q Did you know prior to October 1996 that Ms.

(15) Chandler had relocated from Ohio to Plant City, Florida?

(16) A She doeso’t live in Plant.City, Florida.

(17 Q So your understanding is that she still Iives in

(18) Ohio?

(19) A I believe that she lives in Anzona

@0) Q In Arizopa. Okay. That's not a helpful quote,

1) "Lblame him. He's made my life hell?

(22) A That’s correct.

©3) QIs ita true quote? Do you think you really made

(24) her life hell?

25 A Ihopenot.




IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE PHIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
TN AND FOR HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA
CIVIL DIVISION

JOHN LARRY DICKS,

Plaintiff,
: CASE NO. 9896-744 )

>
Division D =~ 2
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THE NATIONAL REPUBLICAN _
SENATORIAL COMMITTEE, ' ' C .

Defendant. : L

/

DEFENDANT’ § MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT i

Defendant National‘Republican Senatorial Committee

¥

("NRSC”) respectfully submits this motion for summary Judgment

pursuant to Florida Rule of Civil Proc¢edure 1.510.

Plaintiff John Larry Dicks was the unsuccessful

Democratic candidate for the Digtrict 23 State Senate seat in

November 19856. This lawsuit is based on an independent

expenditure television advertigement that aired late in the 13936

campaign and discussed Mr. Dicks’ background as a financial

advizsor. The NRSC sponsored the advertisement, which was based

on information Mr. Dicks discloged on a registration form he had

filed with the National Association of Securities Dealers.

Mr. Dicks’ Second Amended. Complaint alleges that the

NRSC’ s advertisement libeled him by asserting that 'he “is the

subjebt of six securities investigations.” The NRSC

respectfully‘submits that it is entitled to summary judgment on




the Second Amended Complaint for three fundamental reasons,

which are discussed in greater detail in the accompanying

Memorandum of Law.

First, Mr. Dicks’ 1ibel claim is barred because the

NRSC's statement at issue is eubstantially true.

second, Mr. Dicks cannot prove that the NRSC acted

with wactual malice”; that is, that it published the statement

at issue with actual knowledge that it was false, or with a

wyeckless and willful disregard for the truth.”

Finally, Mr. Dicks cannot prove that the NRSC' s

statemént at issue caused hlm to suffer any actual damages.

Therefore, as discussed in greater detail in the

accompanying Memorandum of Law, the NRSC resnectfullv xequests

that the Court enter summary judgment for the NRSC and against

Mr. Dicks on the Second Amended Complalnt.

Respectfully submitted,

James M. Landis

FOLEY & LARDNER

100 N. Tampa Street, Suite 2700
Tampa, Florida 33601

Tel. {B813) 229-2300

£‘“‘1{~ &"‘&r—

Bobby R. Burchfield
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Washington, D.C. 20004
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Defendant National Republican Senatorial Committee

(WNRSC”) respectfully submits that it is entitled to summary

judgment for three fundamental reasons.

First, plaintiff’s libel claim fails because the

ctatement at issue is gubstantially true.

Second, plaintiff cannot prove that the NRSC acted
with “actﬁal‘malice;;,that is, that it published the statement
at issue with actual knowledge that it was falge, or with a

“recklesé and willful disregard for the truth.” To the

contrary, the General Counsel of r£he NRSC, whose office approyed

the challenged campaign advertisement on behalf of the NRSC, g .

believed it to be true.

Finally, plaintiff cannot prove that the NRSC’ s

statement at issue caused him to suffer any actual damages.

)

BACKGROUND

The following factual statement is drawn.from the

NRSC’s Statement of Undisputed Material Facts (“Stmt.”) filed

herewith. Certain additional facts, also believed to be

but not legally material to this matter, are included

’

undisputed

for context.

Plaintiff John Larry Dicks was the Democratic nominee

for the District 23 State Senate seat in November 1996. His

Republicaﬁ/opponent wag Tom Lee. See Stmt. ¥ 1. Mr. Dicks is

an attorney, a real estate broker and instructor, and a
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financial advisor. Dicks Tr. at 60-61 (Bxh. 1). From 1990 to

1993, Mr. Dicks was a National Instructor for the Charles Givens

Organizatibn, and between 1988 and 1995 he had gtints as a

registered investment advisor for Delta First Financial

(“Delta”), a brokerage firm founded by Mr. Givens and Mr. Dicks’

brother, Jack.

L. Mr. Dicks’ Work for the Givens Organization and
Delta. '

The Givens Organization sponsored Seminars that
purported to educate the public about investing. See Margaret

Talev, Investors Bitter About Candidéte, Tampa Tribune, OCL. izL

1996 at 2 (Exh. 12). Tens of thousands of people Jjoined the *

Givens Organization during the 1980s and early 1990s. Id.

Mr. Givens also wrote investment books such as Wealth Without

Risk (1988) and Financial Self-Defense (1990). . Id.

Mr. Dicks was one of four National Instructors for the

Givens Organization. See Dicks Tr. at 32; Givens Organizaticnal

Chart (Exh. 13). He led seminars nationwide, touting the

investment philosophies of Charles Givens and seeking to enlist
new members into the Organization. See Dicks Tr. at 38. Mr.

Dicks also appeared on televigion news programs and

w3infomercials” to promote his seminars and the Givens

Organization. 5See Exhibits 14-15 (transcripts of several of Mr.

Dicks’ appearances). Further, Mr. Dicks wrote two books with




Mr. Givens, The Bookshelf Lawyer and Business Powel Strategies

(Dicks Tr. at 34), and he published do-it-yourself legal forms

in Financial Self-Defense (at page 153) (BExh. 16).

Delta was the investment advisor to the Givens

Organization. See Dicks Tr. at 36. Mr. Dicks gave seminars on

behalf of Delta and solicited business through}“conSultations"

with seminar audience members. See Dicks Tr. at 45-46.

published reports show that the CGivens Organization

was ultimately sued by thousands of former members nationwide,

who sought refunds of, inter alia, membership fees. See Tale@ﬁ

Tnvestors Eltter (Exh. 12).  In early 1996, a California Jury

rendered a $14 1 million verdict against the Givens Organlzatlon

in a class action suit involving 29,000 former members. Id.

Slmllar complalnts were filed in Wisconsin, Maryland, and North

Dakota. d. “The Florlda Attorney General’s office sued the

.Organization and obtained a $400,000 settlement. Id. The

Givens Organization was ultimately bankrupted by its legal

liabilities. Id.

In newspaper interviews during the 18396 campaign, Mr.

Dicks claimed that, despite his prominent position, he should

not be held accountable for the Givens Organization’s business

activities. See, €.9-., Margaret Talev, Senate candidate has

'tasted success; Tampa Tribune, OCt. 15, 1996 at 1 (Exh. 6). He

reiterated this point at his deposition. See Dicks Tr. at 29.
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2. Mr. Dicks’ Legal Problems.

Retween 1992 and 1996, Mx. Dicks was named as a

defendant by a total of eleven (11) former clients in six (6)

arbitrations and one (1) lawsuit. Stmt. q 4. In each of these

matters, Mr. Dicks; former clients sought refunds for failed

investments Mr. Dicks had sold them. The claimants alleged

losses ranging from $26,000 to §70,000. Stmt. 17 4(a)-(g).

Mr. Dicks was dismissed from two of +he arbitrations because the

claimants meant to sue his brother, Jack, but the other arbitra-

tions and the lawsuit were eventually settled‘for monetary

payments. Stmt. ¥ 5. Mr. Dicks described these matters on.

U-4 Form he submitted to the Natiocnal Association of Securities:.

Dealers (WNASD") on March 1, 1995 (™1953 U-4 Form”), and on 2

subsequent form he filed on January 14, 1997 (%1997 U-4 Form”)

(Exh. 2, 3). Stmt. 19 3oy .1

* The U-4 Form is the Uniform application for Securities

Industry Registration or Transfer, which requires financial
professionals to provide, among other things, detailed
information about their work history and any customer-initiated
complaints or claimg against them. The U-4 Form is a public
document, and in some instances it is the only publicly-
available source of information about claims against a financial

advisor. Stmt. 99 2-3.




3. Mr. Dicks’ Candidacy for the State Sénate and
The NREC Advertisement. o '

Tn late 1995, Mr. Dicks entered the. race for the

Digtrict 23 State Senate seat. He had no primary oppomnent and

became the Democratic nominee without contest. Stmt. 9 6.

In October 1996, as 1is typical in the political arena,

the Florida Republican Party paid a consultant to do “opposition

research” about Mr. Dicks through publicly-available materials,

including Mr. Dicks’ most recent U-4 Form, filed in March 1995.

gtmt. ¥ 7. The material was given to Delaware Entertainment

Broadcasting, a creative vendor with a good reputatiocn, as théf

basis for an independent expenditure advertisement opposing

Dicks’ candidacy. Id. The advertisement was paid for by the

NRSC. Stmt. @ 8. As reguired by state law (Fla. Stat. Ann.

§ 106.085), Craig_Engle, General»Counsel of the NRSC, notified.
Mr. Dicks and his opponent, Tom Leé, of the advertising

expenditure by letter dated October 28, 1996. Id.

The advertisement aired from October 28 to November 4,

1996 (id.), and stated (Stmt. q 9):

TJohn Dicks is running for State Senate

Voiceover:
on his record. Well, here are the
facts.

Voiceover: Fact: For years, John Dicks worked

closely with controversial financial
advisor Charles Givens.




FACT: Charles Givens pays $ millions in
fraud complaints. Tampa Tribune
10/22/96. ' :

Graphic:

Voiceover: Fact: Teng of thousands of people
across the country who lost their money
filed fraud complaints against Givens,
who's paid millicns in fines and
Jjudgments.

Graphic: FACT: John Dicks is the subject of six’
securities investigations.

Voiceover: Fact: John Dicks is the subject of six
securities investigations from people
who fell prey to his slick schemes.

We can’t have John Dicks as our state.
senator. :

Graphic:

The fact is, we can’t have John Dic
as our state senator. 8

Volceover:-

Paid political advertisement. Paild for
by National Republican Sematorial
Committee independently of any
candidate or committee. 425 2d Street,
NE, Washington, DC 20002. ' S

Graphic:

The advertisement was based primarily on the U-4 Form

Mr. Dicks filed with the NASD in 1995. See Affidavit of Craig

M. Engle (“Engle Aff.7) 9 3 (Exh. 33). The 19985 U-4 Form was

the most current‘publicly—available information about the

securities actions filed against Mr. Dicks because, for reasons

he cannot explain, Mr. Dicks had failed to file an updated U-4

Form in 1996. Stmt. T 3. At all times, Mr. Engle and others at

the NRSC believed the sdvertisement was accurate and truthful,

pased on Mr. Dicks’ own admissions on his U-4 Form. See Engle




. statement only,

Aff. 9§ 6. GSee also Margaret Talev,,Dicks sues Repubiicans over

TV ad, Tampa Tribune, Nov. 1, 1996 at 1 (Exh. 17); Richard

Danielson, In State Senate District 23, mud Flies in both

directions, St. Petersburg Times, Nov. 4, 19396 at 3B (Exh. 18).
Mr. Dicks filed this libel lawsuit on October 31,
1996. Stmt. 9 15. He challenges one statement, and one

in the advertisement: “John Dicks is the subject

of six securities investigations.” Stmt. q 16.

Mr. Dicks ultimately lost the State Senate election by

2 margin of 61% to 39%. Stmt. q 10.

4, Mr. DickstACtivities Since the 1996 Election'\
Mr. Dicks’ political career did not end in 1886. In-

June 1998 he was elected a Commissioner of Plant City, Florida.

Stmt. 9 11. In June 1999 he was appointed to a one-year term as

Mayor of Plant Cifyaby his fellow Commissioners. Stmt. T 12.°

Since 1996, Mr. Dicks has not done business as an

attorney or investment advisor. See Dicks Tr. at 209-10. He

instead has managed his family’s citrus groves and real estate.

Id. aE 13. Mr. Dicks can cite no evidence of harm to his

financial status and his net worth, which was $2.3 million in

1986, may‘well have increased. Id. at 142, 208. Thus, Mr.

Dicks does not claim lost wages Or similar f£inancial injuries in

his lawsuit. Stmt. T 13. Moreovey, Mr. Dicks admits that he
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ation for honesty

cannot name anyone who has gquestioned his reput

since the NRSC advertisement aired in 1996. vStmt.,ﬂ 14.

ARGUMENT

This case strikes at the heart of the First Amendment. !
. i

T+ seeks to impose Onerous liability on the NRSC for a statemént

it madé about a candidate for public office in the course of a

heated political campaign. Nearly four decades agc, the United

States Supreme Court recognized the threat to First Amendment

free speech rights when a public figure, like Mr. Dicks, asserts

a defamation claim against a speaker, like the NRSC,,that has

zddressed issues of public import. See New York'Timesvv:

sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964) . In New York Times and subsegquent.

decisions, the Supreme Court has set rigorous requirements for

gefamation actions Py public figures, and has explicitly

mandated a preference that such claims be disposed of by summary

judgment to avoid imposing the cost to free speech rights that

would accompany a trial.

Strikingly, Mr. Dicks cannot demonstrate by clear and

convincing evidence that the statement at issue was false, a

requisite of any defamation action. To the

fundamental pre

contrary, the NRSC’'s statement that Mr. Dicks “is the subject

of six securities investigations” was substantially true.

survive

Mr. Dicks is simply playing semantic games that cannot

summary judgment.



' pven more fundamentally, Mr. Dicks cannot show that

“geotual malice,” a

£he statement at issue was publiéhed with

bedrock element of any 1ibel claim by a public figure. The

Supreme Court hag long held that speech concerning public

officials and candidates for public office is at the very core
of the First Amendment guarantee of free spéech{ in its

landmark decision in NEW'Ybrk Times, the Supreme Court reversed

5 libel award in favor of a local official who claimed an

advertisement in Th

rights demonstrators was defamatory.

wprofound national commitment”tto robust debate on public

issues, including “vehement,

” 376 U.S. at

sharp attacks on government and public officials,

270—71, the Court iﬁterpreted'the Firat Amendment toO regquire
public officials to prove that an al

was made with “actual malice,” that is, “with knowledge that it

wag false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or

not.” Id. at 280 (emphasis added) .

This “actual malice” requirement applies to defamation

cuits filed by any “public figure.” See curtis Publ’g Co. V.

Butts, 388 U.S. 130, 155 (1967) (applying actual malice

regquirement to defamation suit filed by state university

athletic director). The actual malice reguirement “has its

fullest and most urgent application” to speebh concerning

e New York Timeg about his treatment of civiL

Emphasizing cur nation’s -

caustic, and sometimes unpleasantly”

legedly defamatory statement .
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candidates for public office. Monitor Patriot Co. V. ROy, 401

U.s. 265, 272 (1970). Simply put, democracy could not function

if speakers during the heat of campaign debate were deterred

from comment by fear of onerous legal liability for inadvertent

factual errors.’

Moreover, Mr. Dicks must carry his burden of bréving

Falseness and actual malice not just by a preponderance of the

evidence, but by clear and convincing evidence. See Gertz v.

Robert Welch, Inc., 418 U.S. 323, 350-51 (1974) . - Again, this

evidentiary standard, like the actual malice requirement, is a g,

mandate of the First ZAmendment .
In libel cases brought by public figures, the First

amendment mandates that summary judgment is the preferred method

of disposition. This ig o because the Court is chérgéd, as a

matter of First Amendment law, as the gatekeeper to assure that .,

core political speech is not penalized by the burden and expense

of a trial. Bose Corp. v. (onsumers Union of U.S., Inc.,

466 U.S. 485, 511 (1984) (“Judges, as expositors of the

Constitution, must independently decide whether the evidence in

the record’ is clear and convincing). Florida courts recognize

that, in defamation cases brought by public figures, “summary

judgments should be more liberally granted.” Menendez v. Key

west Newspaper Corp., 293 So.2d 751, 752 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974) .

Accord Newton v. Florida Freedom Newspapers, Inc., 447 So.2d
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906, 907 (Fla. 1st DCA 10984) (\summary judgment should be more

1iberally granted where, as in' this case, the constitutional

standard of ‘actual malice’ applies”); Cronley v. Pensacocla

News-Journal, Inc., b6l So.2d 402, 405 (Fla. 1lst DCA 1990)

(same) ; Friedgood V. Peters Publ’g Co., 521 So.2d 236 (Fla. 4th

pCa 1988) (same); Palm Beach Newspapers,  Inc. v.»Eailyy 334

80.2d4 50 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976) (same) .

For these reasons, three courts have réCently entered

summary judgment against public figures who alleged libel by a

See Dockery V. Floridé‘Democratic‘

political advertisement.

party, et al., 7 Fla. Weekly Supp. 393 (

(March 2, 2000)- (Exh. 19); Delaney v. NRSC, No. CL 96-009369

(AG) (Fla. Cir. Ct. Palm Beach Cty.) (March 29,

pritt v. Republican Nat’l Committee, et al., No.

Va. Cir. Ct. Fayette Cty.) (May 15, 2000) (Exh. 21) . This case

warrants similar disposition.
I. 'I'I-IE STATEMENT AT ISSUE IS ‘SUBSTANTIALLY TRUE.
Mr. Dicks’ libel claim reguires clear and convincing

proof that the challenged statement is false. “A false

statement of fact is absclutely necessary if there is to be

recovery in a defamation sction.” Friedgood, 521 So.2d at 242;

Byrd v. Hustler Magazine, Inc., 433 So.2d 5393, 595 (Fla. 4th DCA

1983) (same). The determination of whether a statement is

defamatory must be based on “the entire broadcast in context,

i

Fla. Cir. Ct. Polk Cty s/

2000) (Exh. 20);,

97-0-380 (v) (W..




not simply the of fending words.” pullum v. Johnsorz, 647 So.2d

254, 257 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994) .

Moreover, the statement at issue need only be

wgubstantially true

» +o be absolutely protected from suit.

Nelson v. Associated Press, Inc., 667 F. Supp. 1468, 1477 (S.D.

Fla. 198B7) (newspaper article not defamatory”beCause “the law

requires only that the publlcatlon be substantlally true”). An

il1lustrative case ap

Televigion Corp., 616 So.2d 501 (Fla 34 DCA 1993)- The

Wocdward court ruled that a report that plalntlff had served

four years in’ jail was not defamatory,

sentence was only two years; because “this fact does not affect

the gist of the story Id. at 503.

Mr. Dicks challenges the statement that he “is the

subject of six securities investigations” for two reasSons.

Dicks Tr. at 115-16 (Exh. 1). First, he challemges the use of

the term “investigations” pecause he interprets it to denote

only an official inguiry, by “a regulatory body of which you are

licensed or [toO] which you have some responsibility,” into

wyhether you have done something wrong.” 7d. at 86. Second,

Mr. Dicks challenges the use of the word “is” because, though he

admits that he was at one time named in at least six securities

lawsuits and arbitrations, fewer than six of them were actually

pending when the advertisement gired. Id. at 124. These

plylng thlS standard is Wbodward v. Sunbeam

even though ‘his actual L




semantic objections do not clearly and cOnvincingly_démonstrate

fFalseness for purposes of a libel claim. To the contrary, the

statement at issue is substantially true, pased on Mr. Dicks’

own admissions to the NASD.
A. Mr. Dicks Admitted the.Facts‘Underlyihg the Statement
at Issue. ' :

Mr. Dicks concedes, as he must, that when the NRSC’ s

advertisement aired he had been the-subject of sixlNASD

arbitrations and one lawsuit, filed by eleven former Delta

clients. Stmt. T 4. All the claimants sought to recover sums&

they had invested in failed ventures allegedly touted by Mr.

Dicks in a fraudulent or‘negligent manner. As described by M-

Dicks on his March 1, 1995 U-4 Form:

s On August 27, 1992, JoAnn Chandler filed a
complaint against Mr. Dicks in the Ohio Court
of Conmon- Pleas. for $70,000. in compensatory
damages plus punitive damages. Ms. Chandler
alleged that Mr. Dicks defrauded her through
“untruths” and “omissions” about certain

 “unsuitable” investments he had sold her.

e On January 20, 1893, Carol Pally filed an NASD
arbitration claim against Mr. Dicks for $33,300
in compensatory damages and $100,000 in
‘punitive damages. Ms. Pally alleged that Mr.
Dicks sold her securities that were “too risky
and unsuitable,” and +hat he closed the sale
through the use of wfraud, deception, and
material misstatements of fact.”

e« On May 31, 1894, Edward and Shirley Karelsen
filed an NASD arbitration claim against Mxr.
Dicks for $26,500 in compensatory damages plus
punitive damages. The Karelsens alleged that
Mr. Dicks placed their IRA funds in an
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--“ynsuitable recommendation,” that he “falsely
and fraudulently made misleading statements,”
breached his fiduciary duty, was negligent, and
preached the “implied covenant of good faith '
and fair dealing.”

¢ On September 13, 1994, Giri and Thana Giridhar
filed an NASD arbitration claim against Mr.
Dicks for $55,000 in compensatory damages plus
punitive damages. The Giridhars alleged that
Mr. Dicks “failed in his] fiduciary duty,”
made “unsuitable recommendations,” acted “in a
negligent fashion,” failed to “perform proper
due diligence,” and breached an “implied
covenant of good faith and fair dealing.”

e On October 24, 13554, Joseph Kennedy filed an

| yASD arbitration claim against Mr. Dicks for =
$48,000 in compensatory damages. Mr. Kennedy <
alleged that Mr. Dicks had used a. “deceptive
marketing strategy,” including “false and
misleading statements,” had omitted facts in
describing the investments, and sold them
wwithout regard to suitability.”

e On May 5, 1985, Eugene and Jean Trifilio filed
an NASD arbitration claim against Mr. Dicks for
460,000 in compensatory damages -and- $300,000 in
punitive damages. The Trifilios alleged that
Mr. Dicks breached his fidueiary duty to them,
committed negligence and fraud, and  failed to
evaluate the suitability of the investment he

sold them.
1995 U-4 Form at 5-10 (Stmt. I9 4(a)-(£)).

Oon his January 14, 1997 U-% Form, Mr. Dicks disclosed

that on October 25, 1996, three days before the NRSC advertise-

ment began to air, Frank and Florence Brown filed an NASD

arbitration claim against him for $26,000 in compensatory

damages. The Browns alleged that Mr. Dicks breached his
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fiduciary duty, committed fraud, and did not use due diligence.
See 1897 U-4 Form at 5-10 (Stmt. T 4(g9))-

B. The Term “Investigations” Fairly Includes Lawsults

and Arbitration Claims.
Mr. Dicks asserts that the NRSC’s reference to the

above claims as “investigations” is false, because he personally

interprets the term to include only official inquiries by

licensing or regulatory bodies. The NRSC respectfully submits
that Mr. Dicks’ own self-serving, unsupportedidefinition of the
term “investigations” is a far cry from clear and convincing

proof of falseness Moreover,.it ig simply wrong.

The very words of the NRSC advertisement state that

Mr. Dicks “is the subject of six securities'investigations from

people who fell prey to his slick schemes” (emphasis added) .? It

ig clear beyond ;easonable diepute_that the advertisement

explicitly excluded government investigations, and made clear

its focus on “ipvestigations from people” who were victims. f

Moreover, even without this dispositive language, the

lawsuit and NASD arbitrations filed against Mr. Dicks are fairly

called “investigations.” The term “investigation” is defined

2 Mr. Dicks does not challenge the reference to his “slick
schemes,” which 1is in any event a protected statement of the
NRSC’s opinion. Scandanavian World Cruises (Bahamas) Ltd. V.
Ergle, 525 So.2d 1012, 1015 (Fla. ath DCA 1988) (statements of
oplnlon ‘are not actionable”); pullum, 647 So. 2d at 258 (same
for “rhetorical hyperbole,” even i1f “inflammatory”)




- 16 -
as: Ql.lA séekiné of knowledge;‘data, or the truth'about
SOmething: v2. The act or ah instance of expléring'or
investigéting5 3. To study closely or syéteﬁatipally.” 'Rogeﬁié
Thesaurus 560 (2d edf 1988). The verb “investigate” is
Similarly defined: “To observe or iﬁquire into in detail. To

make a systematic inquiry or examination.” ~Webster’'s New

College Dictionary 583 (2d ed. 1995). Therefore, the term

“investigétion" is broad enough to encompass NASD arbitration

ciaims and lawsuits which, by definition, must be inVestigated
before being fiied or decided.?

Indeed, NASD arbitrations.permit diScoVery for thg&ﬁh
very purposé; Thé NASD Code oﬁ Arbitration Procedure (“Codg”T-
and related NASD arbitration gui&eé provide tﬁat: |

e The claimant’s Statement of Claim must include

“documents in support of the claim” to be

servedson:all_partiES,and the arbitrators (Code.
§ 10314 (a), NASD Arbitration Procedures at 6)

(Exh. 22-23);
3 Such “investigation” is, in fact, compelled by rules
governing lawsuits. For example, Federal Rule of Civil

Procedure 11 regquires that pleadings signed by an attorney have
evidentiary support that will be demonstrated after “further
investigation or discovery.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 11(b) (3).
Similarly, the Florida Rules of Judicial Administration regquire
attorneys to certify that pleadings have “good ground” to
support them. Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.060(d). See also Ohioc R.
Civ. P. 11 (same). An attorney must “investigate” before being
able to so certify. The rules governing discovery in lawsuits
are also aimed at permitting “investigation” into claims and

defenses.
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¢ Parties may serve “written requests for
. i{nformation or documents” on each other; and
must file such requests with the arbitrators
(Code § 10321(b)); o S S

e At least ten days before an arbitration
‘hearing, the parties must “serve on each other
copies of documents in their possession they
intend to present at the hearing” and “identify
witnesses they intend to present at the
hearing” (id. § 10321 (c), NASD Arbitration
Procedures at 14); : . S

¢ Arbitrators are empowered to OIder’tHe
production-of_witnesSes_for depositions (NASD -
Arbitrator’s Manual at 12) (Exh. 24).
These provisions:. (1)vrequire parties to “investigate” their

claims and defenses; (2) permit the parties to “investigate”".

their opponents’ claims and defenses; and (3) eneble the L
arbitrators to “investigaee” the parties’ respective pesitioms
before deciding the matter.

, VFur;her,_seve:alvof_the_ectual cleimants_against 'H
Mr. Dieks specifically testified that they and their.apﬁorneys
“investigated” him before filing their claims. ,Fof example;.

Mr. Giridhar testified that his attorneys conducted an

“investigation” of Mr. Dicks, and Mr. Giridhar’s attorney stated

on the deposition record that he “performed an investigation and

filed a complaint with the NASD.” Giri Giridhar Tr. at 25,

40-41 (Exh. 25). The Karelsens also testified that they

“investigated” Mr. Dicks. Shirley Karelsen Tr. at 15 (Exh. 26) .

Indeed, Mrs. Karelsen testified that the arbitrators of her
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claim lndependently lnvestlgated Mr. Dicks, and that she gave '

them 1nformatlon to aid the lnvestlgatlon Id.
Aecordinglyy the statement that Mr. Dicks is the
Subject.of “securities investigations” is substantially true.

c. The Use of the Word “Is” in Connection With the
Clalms Against Mr. chks Was Approprlate

Mr chks also challenges the NRSC’S statement that he

“ig” the subject of the above investlgatlons because some of'the

claims against him were no longer pending when the advertisement
aired. GSee Dicks Tr.at 255-56 (Exh. 1).°

Nonetheléss, the statement at issue is still sub- %

stantially true, based on Mr. Dicks’ own admissions. The @%’”m

i

based its statement on the U-4 Form Mr. chks submltted to the
NASD on March 1, 1995 See Engle Aff q 3 (Exh 33) On that
form, Mr. Dicks indicated that he had been named ih six
aifferenttptoeeedihgs breught by hihe:claimants,vandhthat the
Kennedy, Giridhar, Karelseh; and Pally matters (in that order)
were still “pending.” See 1995 U-4 Form (Exh. 2). These feur

matters involved six claimants, which itself provides a

4 Mr. Dicks claims that he settled with Ms. Chandler in July
1993, Ms. Pally in February 1996, the Karelsens in April 1996,
the Giridhars in February 1996, Mr. Kennedy in August 1995, and
the Trifilios in June 1995. &ee 1997 U-4 Form at 5-10 (BExh. 3).
. These settlements were confidential, however, and four of them
were indisputably not publicly reported until after the 1996

election.




. j-.,l,9,.—_. .

‘reasonable basis for the NRSC’ s reference to “SlX securltles

investigations. Moreover, the Browns flled thelr NASD

arbitreﬁionvclaim oﬁ Octeber‘ZS, 1996 -- after Mr. Dicks
submitted his U-4 Form, but before the NRSC_advertisement began
to air. See 1997 U-4 Formv<Exh. 3). Therefore, in addition to
the four claims disclosed on Mr. Dicks’ 1995 U-4 Form as
“pendlng,” a fifth claim with two more clalmants was actuallz
pendlng when the advertlsement aired

Mr. Dicks admlts that hls 1995 U 4 Form was the most..
current pu#licly—avallable 1nformatlon about the claims agalnst

him. See Dicks Tr. at 302. He concedes that he did not upgate

or supp?ement the form untll January 1997 -- several monthgg_

after the 1996 electlon. Id.; Stmt. T 3.

The NRSC reasonably relied on Mr. Dicks’ Merch 1985
filing-aS'the-besis for the‘stetement»atmissue,w,There isenbme,
authoéity to suggest thet the NRSC should be charged with
knowledge of facts it could not reasonably have known, merely
because Mr. Dicks had failed to update his U-4 Form since March
1995. Indeed, the Supreme Court in New York Times held that the
newspaper could‘not be charged with facts contained in its own
files, because it had no duty to investigate further. See 376
U.8. at 280-81L. The accuracy of the statement at issue must

therefore be judged by the information actually available to the

NRSC.
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Even though Mr. Dicks’ 1995'0—4 Form indicatés that
only fourvmatters weie pending, and evén though only one sub-
sequent matter was also pending, the NRSC's statemenf-regarding
“eix” investigations.iS'still‘substantially true. The slight
difference between five claims by eight claiménts and six
“investigations"ldoes not demdnstrate falseness. In Woodward, a
newspapexr artidle sﬁéted thaﬁ é aefémation plaiﬁtiff had Ser§éd
four years in jail, when in fact he'had iny‘served only two
years. - See 616.50.2d_at 503. The appellaté coﬁrt nénetheléés

found this error irrelevant for defamation purposes because it

“does not affect the gist of the story Id. Indeed, an

“of only minor Slgnlflcance when the entlre story is con51deredﬁ
does not constituté falseness. Néwton, 447 So.2d at 907; Tlmes
publ’g. Co. . Huffstetler, 409 So.2d 112, 113 (Fla. 5th DCA
1982) (same). And Mr. Dicks does not even challenge the
accuracy of the remaining facts set forth in the spot.

The NRSC respectfully submits that, as in Woodward,
the difference betwéen five claims by eight former clients and
six “investigations” by former clients does not “affect the
gist” of the statement at issue. The fact that Mr. Dicks’léft
behind disgruntled investors would be equally demonstrated by

either number of claims. In light of Woodward, Newtorn, Times
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Publiéhiné, and New York Times,.the statement aﬁliSSue is
éubétaﬁﬁially triue.vv5 |
II. THE NRSC DID NOT ACT WITH “ACTUAL MALICE.”

As a candidate for the Florida State Semnate, Mxr. Dicks
wag a public figure as a matter of law. See, e.g., Cronley, 561
So.2d at 404—05 (candidate for Florida State Senate was a public
figure) . .IndEed,-this~Coﬁrt has preViously‘ruled that a |
capdidate for elective office ié treated as a “public figure.”
See Ordér Grahting Plaintiff’vaofionvfér Leave to Add Claim for
Punitive Damageé at 3 (May 17, 198%8) (“May 17, 1999 Order”)vf

(Exh.'il). See also Shiver v. Apalachee Publ’g Co., 425 So.2d

1173, 1175 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983) (same) .
As a public‘figure, Mr. Dicks’ libel claim reguires
him to prove, by “clear and convincing evidence,” that the

statement at issue

was (1) a statement of fact, (2) which was
false, and (3) made with ‘actual malice” --
that is, with knowledge that it was false or
with reckless disregard for whether it was

false oxr not.

palm Beach Newspapers, 334 So.2d at 52.

5 Because one might still be considered the “subject” of an
investigation even after it has been “closed,” the NRSC' s
statement was also true because Mr. Dicks remained the subject
of the investigations even after they were “closed.” As Craig
Engle testified, ™'Is’ the subject and ‘was’ the subject I would
feel are interchangeable terms.” Engle Tr. at 38 (Exh. 7). See

~also Engle Aff. 1 6 (Exh. 33).




The‘third element is the “actual_malice” requirement
first established by the Supremeicburtviﬁ New York Times, 376
U.s. at 280. In particular, “reckless disregard” can be proved

only through clear and convincing proof that the defendant had

“gerious doubts as to the truth of his publication.” St. Amant

. Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 731 (1968) (‘em‘p"ha's'is ‘added); Palm

Béach.&éﬁﬁpapérs, 334186;2a at 52 (s‘a-mve);‘6 N |
The‘United States Supreﬁe Court has insfructed that

judges must Vindependently decide” whether a pléintiff is able

to prove “actual malice” by clear and convincing evidence. Bose

Corp. v. Consumers Union of U.S., Inc., 466 U.S. 485, 511-1 4
(1984) (no “actual malice”ibecause statement was “one Of_aE 

number of possible rationél interpretations” of event) . Ihdeed;v
“[é]ublic discﬁssion about thé quaiifications of a cahdidateifor'
elective office presents what is prébably the étrbhgeSt posgible

case” for the need to prove “actual malice.” Ocala Star-Banner

Co. v. Damron, 401 U.S. 295, 300 (1971) (ordering new trial in

6 Thig is a high threshold. 1In gt. Amant, for example, the
Supreme Court ruled that a libel defendant did not act with a
“reckless and willful disregard for the truth,” even though he
made a televised speech accusing a sheriff of accepting bribes
based solely on the unverified affidavit of an informant. See
390 U.S. at 731. Similarly, a “fzilure to investigate before
publishing, even when a reasonably prudent person would have
done so, is not sufficient to establish reckless disregard.”
Harte-Hanks Commun., Inc. V. Connaughton, 491 U.S. 657, 659
(1989). Here, of course, the NRSC reasonably relied on

Mr. Dicks’ own 1995 U-4 Form and on its creative vendor.
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publlc off1c1al’s llbel suit where court dld not requlre such
proof).f Mr Dicks hlmself has acknowledged that the claims
agalnst hlm by former clients were “falr game for other

politicians to comment on. chks Tr. at 183 (Exh 1).

A. No Ev;dence Demonstrates That the NRSC Acted With
Actual Malice.

;Mr chks asserts as ev1dence of actual.mallce a
1etter by his opponent Tom Lee, to Cralg Engle;-requestlng
factual support for the advertlsement and a second letter the
very next day suggestlng tHat the NRSC w1thdraw the

advertlsement because Mr. Engle had not responded to the earller

letter. See Dicks Tr. at_186—87, 191; Letters from Tom Lee;.oa

Craig Engle, October 29 and 30 1996 (BExhs. 27,‘28): From these
events,_Mr.'chks 1nfers that “there was at least a baSlS to.
question whether the ads were correctf'(Dicks Tr. at 191), and
that, therefore, the NRSC'S refusal"totuithdraw‘the' |
advertisement or respond to Mr. Lee reflects actual malice.
'This theory fails for three reasons. |

First, Mr. Dicks misunderstands the law of campaign

finance. As the sponsor of an independent expenditure, the NRSC

was prohibited by Florida law from communicating with Mr. Lee
concerning the content or airing of the advertisement, other
than to advise both candidates that the spot would run. See

Fla. Stat. Ann. §§ 106.085, 106.143(4) (b) . Mr.'Engle’s failure

e




to respond to éithei of Mr. Lee's leftefs reflects:compliancé
with thé'léw,“#oﬁ an admissioﬁ of wrongdoing.7v'And in any event,
mere failﬁre to respond to‘a lettér does noﬁ constitute_“cleér
and chvincing”.evidence of‘falseness or actual malice.

Second, to the degree Mr. Dicks ig suggesting that the

NRSC‘failed'to‘investigate in response to Mr. Lée’s_leﬁters, the

Supreme Court has made clear that “failure to investigate before

publishing, éVen when a réasonably prudent pefSon would have
done so, is‘ﬁothsufficienf to-éstablish reckless disregafd.”;
Hérte—Hanks,tésl U.s. at 653. Moreover, Mr. Engle ﬁestifiedﬁ
fhat upon receiving the first letter from Mr. Lee, he “went%ﬁa;k
and opened up the file that was.abgut this ad to make sureiéhat
the statemeﬁté wéfevacburété.” Eﬂgle fﬁ. at 22. Thus, even.
| though not required to do so, Mf. Engie did investigate, aﬁdn
confirmed to his~own'sé£isfaction‘that.the advertisement was
true. |

Third, Mr. Lee’s letters did not imply that . the NRSC
Rather, Mr. Lee emphasized his vow to

advertisement was false.

“run a positive campaign,” and requested “documenting evidence”

7 Thus, the NRSC’s “general operating rule is to not make
communications or consultations with candidates who we are
operating independently of.” Engle Tr. at 20 (Exh. 7). Indeed,
Mr. Dicks himself acknowledged that Mr. Engle was prohibited by
law from contacting Mr. Lee in response to his letters. See

Dicks Tr. at 347-48 (BExh. 1).




’so that’he cOuld “make a publi¢ sﬁatement regarding the factqal
aécuracy” df‘fhe ad%ertisement! Oct. 29 Letter (Exh. 27) .8

When Mr. Engle did not respond by the next day, Mr.
Lee sent a second letter requesting that the NRSC withdraw the
advertisement. See Oct. 30 Letter (Exh. 28):H Mr. Lee noted
that Mr. Dicks’ objedtions “afe highly technicai,” ahd stated
thét he‘simply &anﬁedlto-giveiMf. Diéks,“thé‘bénefit.ofthé‘
doubt to ensuré’that I do not take»unfair'advantage of the
string of legél probleﬁs he has faced;" Id. ‘indeed, Mr. Lee
told the press that the advertisement was.“95% correct5 and that

he did not gquestion its truthfulness. Lee Tr.at 16 (Exh. 2@#@9

As Mr. Engle testified, it is not unusual for the intended

B Despite the common criticism of “negative campaigning,”
recent studies have demonstrated that “negative” campaign ‘
_advertisements are, on average, more accurate and informative
than are pro-candidate, “positive” advertisements. See Kathleen
Hall Jamieson, Everything You Think You Know About Politics And
Why You’re Wrong 73-73, 97-106 (Basic Books 2000) .

? Mr. Lee had also asked three television stations to stop
alring the advertisement, and two did so. See Lee Tr. at 13;
Margaret Talev, Stations pull ad at request, Tampa Tribune, ,
Nov. 2, 1996 (Exh. 30). The weekend before the election, the - ’
Florida Democratic Party circulated a campaign mailer that .
attacked Mr. Lee with false charges. See Margaret Talev,
pemocrat ad breaks campaign pledge, Tampa Tribune, Nov. 4, 1996
at 7 (Exh. 31). Mr. Dicks did not criticize the flyer or ask
that it be retracted or clarified. See Dicks Tr. at 354-56
(Exh. 1). In the wake of the Democratic mailer, Mr. Lee asked
one television station, WFLA-TV, to re-air the advertisement,
noting that “there could be no standard of. . . . accuracy . -
lower than that which my opponent had taken.” Lee Tr. at 16.
WFLA-TV did not re-air the advertisement. See Burmer Tr. at 60-

61 (Exh. 32).
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benef1c1ar1es of 1ndependent expendltures to dlstance themselves
from them for reasons wholly unrelated to thelr accuracy See
Engle Tr. at 20-21.

'The’Coutt as gatekeeper must ensure that Mr. Dicks
comes forward with probative evidence of_actual_maiice at the
summary judgment stage, before‘ailow1ng him to proceed to trlal
Mr. chks must prov1de "concrete ev1dence," not allegatlons that
are "merely colorable" or "not significantly probative."

Anderson v. ‘Libe_rty ’Lobby, Ine.,j‘_477 U.S. 242, 248, 256 (1‘985._).
 Because he has‘failednto do Séf eummaty judgment'is approPtiate
on this ground. | |

B. The Punitive Damage Claim Does Not Satisfy the Actual
Malice Requirement. '

Mr. Dicks may attempt to rest his proffer of actual

malice on the Court’s May 17, 1999 order permitting him to amend

his’Complaint to add a claim fot punitive damages. See May 17,
1999 Order at 2 (Exh. 11). In that Order, the Court assumed,
based on plaintiff's representatione, that "between 1992 and
1994, six individuals had filed complaints® against Mr. Dicks,
but that "[tlhere were no pending investigations at the time the
campaign ads were run." Id. at 1-2. As shown above (pp. 18-
19), these assumptions were not accurate. The Court obsgerved
that Mr. Dicks was required "to establish a reasonable

evidentiary basis for recovery of punitive damages" before he
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woﬁld be allowed to pleadvfor that»reliéf, but Wafned that-"the 

court is not tovpré—judgé the evidence that ﬁight be

presented at trial," id. at 2 (citing Dolphin Cove Agsoc. V.

Square D Co., 616 So.2d. 553 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)). - The Court

concluded:

As a candidate for public office, Dicks was
_a public figure at the time the ads aired.
‘The statement in question, which imputes -
untrustworthiness and poor character to '
candidate Dicks, was clearly susceptible to
a defamatory meaning by the reasonable '
person standard. Dicks has made the
requisite showing to allow amendment of his
complaint so as to allege a claim for -
punitive damages . ‘ ' o

14 at 3 (emphasis added) .

Thué; it is apparent that the standafd dorrectly
applied by the Court to allow amendment of a puﬁitivé damages
claim”ff ﬁthe réééoﬁable’person standard,"‘cgnnqting only
negligence -- is far lower than the actuél maiice”stéﬁAard,
which requires proof by clear and convincing evidence of actual
knowledge that the statement is false or reckless disregérd for
the truthfulness of the statement.

Under Florida law, punitive damage claims are per-

mitted if “there is a reasonable showing . . . proffered by the

claimant which would provide a reasonable basis for recovery of

such damages.” Fla. Stat. Ann. § 768.72(a) (emphasis added).

Thus, to plead a punitive damage claim, Mr. Dicks had to make a




proffer that lf proved true at trlal WOuld'snﬁpert punitiVe‘

damagEs. Under thlS standard, Florlda courts’ routlnely permlt

punitive damage claims in intentiqnal tortvcaSes_by treatlng_tne

well-pleaded allegations as Eer gg»support for punitive damages. .

As one court explalned

the rule in Florlda appears to be- that

punltlve damages are always recoverable in
intentional tort cases where malice is one

of the essential elements of the tort. - The
underlying rationale for this rule is that

the proof of malice requlred to make out the
“cause of actlon 'is also sufflc1ent ev1dence

of malice on the part of the defendant to -

'permlt the jury to award punltlve damages S

Ciamar Marcy, Inc. v. M. Monteiro Da Costa, 508 So.2d 1282, ;1283

(Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (emphasrs added) This rationale also
applies where, as here, actual malice 15 an essentlai element of
the tort. Id. at 1284 (element of actual‘maliCe “places the
case squarely underwthe inténtional»tort—malice rule in.whichs
punitive damages are recoverable").

'Tnerefore, in cases for'intentional torts such as
libel, the Elorida punitive damages statute is satisfied by mere
“allegations” and “little more than a statement of entitlement.”
L.S.T., Inc. v. Crow, 772 F. Supp. 1254, 1256 (M.D. Fla. 1591).

Accord Water Int’l Network, U.S.A., Inc. v. East, 832 F. Supp.

1477, 1483 (M.D. Fla. 1995) (same; mere allegations of state and

federal RICO violations “constitute a reasonable basis upon

which punitive damages could be awarded’); Hood v. Connors, 4159
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s0.2d 742, 7@4 (.Fla. Sth DCA 19.82) H(oonclus‘ory.allegation that -
‘lioel defendant acted with actual'malioe was “Suffioient to |
‘support a demand forvounltive damagesé).

Mz Dicks must clear a higher eVidentiary.hurdle to
survrve'summary judgment however. He:must'come forward with

clear and conv1nc1ng evrdence that the NRSC actually knew the '

challenged statement was false or had “serlous doubts about ;ts

.truthfulnesS.,.See'pp. 21-22 above. The punltlve damages rullng

is, not a proxy for thls proof
'Mr. chks punltlve damages proffer consrsted of “Tom
ALee s‘letters and e xcerpts from] the deﬁosrtron of l .. Cralg
Engle, who admltted'ln hlS dep051tlon that he never had
discovered information that Dicks was being 1nvest1gated at the
time the adsvaired.“ :See May 17, 1999 Order at'2_(Exh. 11). As
dichSsed abbve7(pp.'24—265;1Mr.dLée7s‘lettérsldb:QQE.~' R ~5f=:'***‘g‘
demonstrate actual malice. Neither does Mr. Engle’s testimony. }
At the'hearing on punitive damagee, qouneel for Mr.
Dicks played a videotape of snippets from Mr. Ehgle’S'
deposition, cut and pasted together out of context to distort

his testimony. Tellingly, Mr. Dicks’ counsel has repeatedly

refused to provide a copy of the videotape to the NRSC’s

counsel. In any event, the key testimony relied on by the Court
: |

in its May 17, 1232 Order appears in the following passage:



Engle Tr.
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Q: And you don’t know whether John Dicks
wag ever the subject of a securities
1nvestigation, do you, . sir?

A: On the baSlS of. the research that has .

‘been provided from the Florida comptroller 5

office, I do know that there have been six
securities-related complaints,
investigations, or proceedings that have
been filed under his name. :

0: I’'m not interested in complaints, .sir.
I’'m interested in investigations. The-
Florida comptroller’s office never
investigated John Dicks, did it?

A No. I never said it did 4

Q: And the Securities and Exchange
Conmmission neVer_investigated John Dicks,
did it? g
A: No. I never said they have.

0: Well, who are you saying did inveetigate
John Dicks, six?

A: I'm not saying anyone has investigated

John Dicks.

0: Well, if you are the subject of a
securities investigation, then someone has - :
to be investigating you, don’t they? a

A: I would imagine that if you want to put
a fine point on it, it would be the
individuals who have filed the matters and
the entities for which those individual
cases are brought would be the supervisory
body for the investigation.

at 26-27 (Exh. 7) (emphasis added). The dogged

insistence by Mr. Dicks’ counsel that “I'm not interested in

complaints, sir,”

clearly shows the passage cannot be read to
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mean what M;._Dicks sdgéests.‘iThie is:explicitly eo in.view bf‘?
Mr. Engle’s statementifﬁat.“the individuals who have filed fhe
matters and the entities for which the‘individual tases were |
brought would be the superv1sory body for the investigation.”

Ae shown above (pp. 18-19) the publicly available information

at the time the advertisements aired indicated that four caees
brought by six indiViduals were still pending against Mr.

Dicks.™"

‘I17. MR. DICKS CANNOT PROVE CAUSATION OF ANY LEGALLY COMPENSABLE

INJURY .
Mr. Dicks must also prove thatvhe’suffered “aetuai?
damage” as a.reSult of the NRSC's statemente atfiesue. Seéi&
Shiver, 425-So 2d at 1175 (affiiminé judgment fof defendant on

defamation claim where plaintiff could not prove “Yactual

damage” ) ; From v. Tallahassee Democrat 400 So. 2d 52 (Fla lst

DCA 1981) (same). Mr. Dicks has conceded that he does not seek

to recover any lost income or diminution in earnings potential
as a result of the NRSC advertisement. Stmt. q 13. Indeed, Mr.
Dicks has not held himself out for business relations since the

1996 election, and as a result he has no ground for any income-

10 Moreover, Mr. Engle also testified that “if Mr. Dicks had

been the subject of six pending securities investigations, I
imagine the advertisement would have said [he] is the subject of

six pending securities investigations. They weren’t pending
and the ad doesn’t say that.” Engle Tr. at. 25-26

(emphasis added) .
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'baéed‘claim. ‘See Dicks Tr; at 209-10 (BExh. 1). Mr. Dicks also -

ackndwledgés tﬁat; as of the 1996 election, ﬁis net worth was
roughly $2.3 million, and thaﬁ,it may wéll ha&evinc¥eased>since
then. Id. at 142, 208.

Mr. Dicks’ damage cléim instead centers oﬁ his
assertion that the statement at issue “subjectéd_him to scorn
| aﬁd ridiculeiiﬁ thé dommunityf; Second Amehdedicbmplaiht q 7
(Exh. 9): Dicks Tr; at 204-06 (“diminished ;#ature in the |
cbmmuhify”). Hé'ﬁas'proVided no évidénce.of'SQCh'damége,
however. To the ééntrary, ih 1995 Mr. Dicks.waé elected to a
three—Year term on the City Commissibn of Plant City,Florid;;

Stmt. § 11. He also served a_bne-Year term as Mayor of Plant 

City, from June 1999 to June 2000. Stmt. ﬁ_iz."vif_anythingm it .

appears that Mr. Dicks’ stature in the community has increased
‘gince the 1996 election.
Mr. Dicks has also suggested that he seeks to recover

the sums he personally spent in funding his campaign (Dicks Tr.

at 206), but such sums are not compensable as damages. They are

s Mr. Dicks voluntarily incurred in seeking public office

expense
and, as a matter of law, are too speculative to recover. ™t
B Any claim rooted in the loss of an election is speculative,

because the “endless number of diverse factors potentially
contributing to the outcome” of elections “forecloses any
reliable conclusions that voter support of a candidate is
‘fairly traceable’ to any particular event.” Winpisinger V.

(continued...)




Fiﬁaily, Mr. Dickéipfoffers no évideﬁcé_pf,any
compenéablevPEYSical, meﬁfal,'or émotioﬂai'harﬁﬂcéuéed:bY“thé
ﬁRSC advertisement. ‘Tovbe gure, Mr. Diéks héé suggésted‘that
‘the advertisemeﬁt‘cauéed him to suffer stress and anxiety (id.
at 75), and he‘relatédly claimed that after the 1996 éleqtion

fhié bleood pressure increased. Id. at 78. Mr: Dicks |
'acknowiedged~that he has alwaxs~héd high'bléqa'préssuie,

however, and admitted that he cannot 1ink_thé iﬁcrease'té the

NRSC advertisement. Id. at 78,.81. Mr. Dicks fﬁithe: admitted '

that he never saw a psychiatrist, psychologist;'dr‘other mental

nealth care professional to deal with stress1or:éhxiety

allegedly-cauSed by the NRSC advertisement..,I6. ét 82-83.

Watson, 628 F.2d 133, 137 (D.C. Cir. 1979). Indeed, Mr. Dicks
acknowledged many possible reasons for his defeat, other than
the statement at issue. See Dicks Tr. at 386-87. Newspaper
articles that appeared several weeks before the advertisement
also focused on Mr. Dicks’ legal problems and affiliation with
the Givens Organization. See Talev, Investors Bitter (Exh. 12);
Talev, Senate candidate (Exh. 13). In one article, a claimant
against Mr. Dicks said, “I blame him. He made my life hell.”
Tnvestors Bitter, at 2. Mr. Dicks admitted that these articles
were “not helpful” to his campaign. Dicks Tr. at 341.




CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the NRSC is entitled to

summary judgment‘on Mr. Dicks’ Second Amended Complaint.
Respectfﬁlly submitted, .

James M. Landis

FOLEY & LARDNER ,

100 N. Tampa Street, Suite 2700
Tampa, Florida 33601

Tel. (813) 229-2300

N VY = f S
- Bobby RY Burchfield
Jason A. Levine
COVINGTON & BURLING - -
1201 Penngylvania Avenue; N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20044-7566
Tel. (202) 662-6000

Attorneys for Defendant _
National Republican Senatorial
Committee
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1 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE

2 : THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND
3 FOR'HILLSBOROUGH COUNTY, FLORIDA

) ,

5| JOHN LARRY DICKS, )

6 plaintiff, ) NO. 96-7441 Div. W
7 . | ) | F

5| THE NATIONAL REPUBLICAN )

9| SENATORIAL COMMITTEE, ) O R g GE I‘d A L

10 Defendant. )

11 . )

12

13 ' VIDEO DEPOSITION UPON ORAL EXAMINATION OF
14 | | SHIRLEY KARELSEN

15

16 ~ Taken at:

17 899 Third Aﬁenue, Suite 3800
18 . Seattle, Washington 98104
19 Tuesday, July 20, 1999

20 : scheduled Time: 11:30 A.M.
21 Actual Start: 12:15 P.M.
22

23| Reported by:

24 TIM BELLISARIO, CCR, RPR

25 CCR No. BE-LL-IT-*458B2
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i+ wasn't. It was a bad company,; & bad investment.

Q. Any other things that you can think of where
Mr. Dicks might have lied?

A. Well, he lied about everything. I don't know

what he didn't lie about.

0. After you filed the Complaint with the National
Association of Security Dealers, do you know whether there

was an investigation of Mr. Dicks and Delta First

Financial?
A, Oh, vyes, there was.
0. Do you know who conducted that investigation?
A. Well, I believe the arbitrators did.
Q. Do you know approximately how long the

investigation of Mr. Dicks lasted?

A. T believe around five years.

0. And is it your understanding that this
investigation was conducted in part because of the

Complaint that you filed with the National Association of

Security Dealers?
A. Uh-hum (affirmative).

Q. Did you participate in the investigation of

Mr. Dicks by helping them and giving them information?

A. Yes.

0. Do you recall whether anybody else participated

in the investigation of Mr. Dicks?

RETT.TAARTO & ASSOCIATES - (800) 424-8829
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- objections,

T further certify that the witness before examination
was by me duly sworn to testify the truth, the whole

truth, and nothing but the truth;

I further certify that the deposition, as
+ranscribed, is a full, true and correct transc;ipt of the
testimony, including questions and answers, and all

motions and exceptions of counsel made and

taken at the time of the foregoing. examination.

WITNESS my hand and seal this izzwﬁlday of July,

1988.

Jr—

TTMOTHY BELLISARIO, CCR, RFR

P

- i,

DFF]CiAL SEAL
¢ TIMOTHY BELLISARIO
Piatary Public - Stae of Washington

é by Commission Expires 8.8-99

State of Washington,

residing at Seattle.

Notary Public in and for the

 BELLISARIO & ASSOCIATES , (B00) 424-8829
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IN THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE
THIRTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN
AND FOR THE HILLSBOROUGH
COUNTY, FLORIDA

CASE NO. 96-7441 Div W

JOHN LARRY DICKS,

Plaintiff,
vs.

THE NATIONAL REPUBLICAN SENATORIAL COMMITTEE,

Defendants.

DEPOSITION OF: GIRI GIRIDHAR

MONDAY, JULY 19, 1999

Biagini & Associates
GOO.Huyler Street
Suite A
So. Hackensack, New Jersey 07606

(201) 440-6353
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T will ask you the guestion that I
asked prior to going back to the previous

guestion.

During the course of these events
in which you invested with John Dické and Delta
First Financial, did you or your attorney ever
conduct an investigation against John Dicks
regarding these circumstances?

A. The attorﬁéys that were involved
for the Arbitration Services, they did.

Q. b So, they conducted an investigation
against John Dicks?

A. From what they told me, yes.

Q. Okay . ' |

Since vyour wife was an additional
complainant in this matter, did your wife or
her counsel or once again, the péople
conducting the arbitration, conduct -an
investigation on her behalf against John Dicks
regarding these circumstances? |

A. Yeah. They,.basically, deait with
me, but yes it was for our investment.
 MR. DeVITA: Counsel, for the
record, you are asking -- thié is counsel

DeVita, I don't know if you want me to state
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John Dicks?

A Most probably I would not have.
0. Why is that? |
A. Again risk. You know, it is going

to be risky, and once we were given the
1mpre551on that it was safe, we were led to
believe that this was a safe investment, and
then in a private session if they were to tell
me that they changed the banking laws, I would
not have gone ahead.

Q. Do you feel that Mr. Dicks had a

duty to tell you +his information had he known

Vit at the time?

A. Yes, I do.
MR. KERI: I would like to attach

t+hat as Defendant's Exhibit 3.
(DEFENDANT 'S 3: A DOCUMENT DATED

JULY 17, 1957 MARKED FOR IDENTIFICATiON, AS OF

THIS DATE.)
Q. Mr. Giridhar, if John Dicks made

the statement that no one had ever investigated

him, would you think that is an ‘inaccurate

statement?
A. Yes, I do.
Q. Tt is an inaccurate statement?
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G. GIRIDHAR - MR. KERI
A. Yes, it is inaccurate.
Q. Why is that?
A. Raced on the conversations I have

had with the Investor Arbitration. Services,
they told me that they had investigated the
Delta First Financial and the people associated
with it.

0. Do you feel that John Dicks
conducted a thorough review of your financial
situation when he suggested that YDu make these
investments?

A. T would have to assume that he
did. FI don't know. |

Q. Te it fair to say that when he
advised you as to what investments to make,
that during these discussions he included the

discussion of risks as well as rewards to these

investments? .

A. Risks were downplayed SO much that

they were hardly mentioned.

0. Mr. Giridhar, I don't know if you
know the technicalities of what M. Dicks has

to do with +he NASD or not, but if he

represented on a form that he had to file with

+he NASD, that the complaint that you filed
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I, DANIELLE LORENZO,.a Notary
public and Certified shorthand Reporter of the .
State of New Jersey, do hereby certify that
prior to the commencement of the examination,
was duly sworn by me to testify the truth, the

whole truth and nothing but the truth.

1. DO FURTHER CERTIFY that the
foregoing is a true and accurate transcript of
+he testimony as taken stenographically by and
before me at the time, place and on the date
hereinbefore cset forth, to the best of my
ability.

I DO FURTHER CERTIFY that I am
neither a relative nor empl@yee nor attorney
nor counsel of any of the parties to this
action, and that I am neither a'relative nor
eﬁplbyee df such attorney or counsel, and that

I am not fipancially interested in the action.

Loniatte, T~

Danielle Lorenzo, C.S5.R.
License No. XIO02018

Dated:



